Supreme Court No. 92049-2

Court of Appeals, Division II, No. 46256-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

POTELCO, INC.,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Defendant/Respondent.

APPELLANT POTELCO, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

RIDDELL WILLIAMS P.S.

Skylar A. Sherwood, WSBA #31896 Josias Flynn, WSBA #44130 Attorneys for Appellant Potelco, Inc. 1001 Fourth Avenue Suite 4500 Seattle, WA 98154-1192 (206) 624-3600 Facsimile: (206) 389-1708

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Potelco, Inc., a Washington corporation that performs utility construction services.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals initially filed an unpublished decision in this matter on September 22, 2015. A copy of that decision is attached hereto as Exhibit A. On November 17, the Court issued an order granting respondent's motion to publish. A copy of that order is attached hereto as Exhibit B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether Potelco is liable for WISHA¹ flagging violations committed by flaggers at Potelco's worksite, when (a) the flaggers were employees of a temporary employment agency; (b) the flaggers were trained by temporary employment agency about flagging rules, and were Washington State-certified flaggers; (c) Potelco relied on the flaggers to provide a WISHA-compliant flagging operation, consistent with their training; (d) Potelco did not manage or supervise the flaggers; and (e) the temporary employment agency retains ultimate control over the flaggers' employment.
- 2. Whether WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) was unconstitutionally applied to Potelco in violation of Potelco's due process, when the Department of

¹ WISHA refers to Washington's Industrial Safety and Health Act, RCW 49.17.

Labor and Industries cited Potelco for failing to have sufficient sign spacing under that regulation, even though the regulation allows employers to reduce sign spacing to fit road conditions, and does not specifically limit the space by which the sign spacing may be reduced?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Potelco performs work on power lines. (Certified Appeal Board Record ("CABR") at 74.)² Sometimes, Potelco worksites require flagging operations. *Id.* at 75. For those worksites, Potelco contracts for flagging services with outside vendors, including Labor Ready. *Id.* Flaggers from these outside vendors are not Potelco employees. *Id.*

When a flagging operation is needed, the relevant Potelco general foreman calls Labor Ready or another outside vendor to request flaggers. *Id.* Potelco relies on Labor Ready to provide trained, certified flaggers. *Id.* at 76. And Potelco relies on the flaggers to set up safe, WISHA-compliant flagging operations. *Id.* at 76-77. Potelco does not train, supervise, or manage Labor Ready's flaggers. *Id.* Instead, the flaggers have a supervisor at Labor Ready. *Id.* at 75. Labor Ready's supervisors maintain ultimate control over their flaggers, even when those flaggers are working at a Potelco worksite. Labor Ready's supervisors may enter

² Potelco designated the Certified Appeal Board Record ("CABR") to be included with the Clerk's Papers, but the Kitsap County Superior Court forwarded the CABR to the Court of Appeals "under separate cover," and did not renumber the CABR in its Clerk's Papers. Thus, references are made directly to the CABR, rather than the Clerk's Papers.

Potelco worksites to monitor flaggers, and may give the flaggers instructions at Potelco worksites. *Id.* at 76. In contrast, Potelco does not tell the flaggers how to perform their specific flagging duties; nor does it tell flaggers where to stand or where to set up signs. *Id.* at 76, 79. The Potelco crew members are otherwise occupied and focused on doing their high voltage work, not supervising the flaggers. *Id.*

This appeal relates to flagging operations at two Potelco worksites where the Department of Labor and Industries ("Department") cited Potelco for the WISHA violations of Labor Ready flaggers.

1. Potelco's "Bainbridge Worksite"

A Potelco crew led by foreman Larry Hensley was assigned to rebuild a power pole on October 11, 2011, on Bainbridge Island, WA. (CABR at 43.) The pole was near the intersection of Winslow Way and Madison Avenue³ ("the intersection"). *Id.* This job required Potelco to use a flagging operation. *Id.* at 44.

There was ongoing construction being conducted (of which Potelco was not a part) throughout the length of Winslow Way and on neighboring streets. Thus, at the same time Potelco was doing its work rebuilding a power pole, a general contractor, Hoss Brothers, was also working on Winslow Way, within a few blocks of the intersection and near Potelco's worksite, apparently conducting work relating to the ongoing construction project. *Id.* at 45. On October 11, 2011, Hoss Brothers was also using a

³Winslow Way runs east and west, while Madison Avenue runs north and south. (CABR at 72.)

flagging operation, and had set up a series of at least three advance warning signs on Winslow Way and Madison Ave in all direction from the intersection and Potelco's worksite. (CABR at 46, 72-73.) The speed limit on Madison Avenue and Winslow Way was 25 miles per hour. *Id.* at 37.

When Mr. Hensley arrived at the intersection on the morning of October 11, four Labor Ready flaggers were already on-site. *Id.* at 44. Mr. Hensley met with the flaggers to inform them where Potelco's jobsite would be set up. *Id.* at 47. He stated that there were at least three existing signs in every direction from the intersection (referring to the Hoss Brothers signage). *Id.* He also asked the flaggers to erect additional signs for the benefit of any drivers who might emerge from the few driveways located between the intersection and the first Hoss Brothers sign, who would otherwise have no notice of the worksite. *Id.* 47-48. Aside from this, Mr. Hensley relied on the flaggers to set up a proper flagging operation, based on Potelco's location and the work the Potelco crew would be doing. *Ad.* at 43, 48-49, 68. After meeting with the flaggers, Mr. Hensley and his crew set up its worksite and began rebuilding the power pole. *Id.* at 49.

Department Compliance Safety and Health Officer ("CSHO") Amy
Drapeau received an anonymous referral about Potelco's worksite on

⁴Potelco crew members occasionally help flaggers set up signs for flagging operations as the signs and stands require a vehicle to transport. (CABR at 48.) But even when a Potelco crew helps the flaggers, they still rely on the flaggers to determine how to set them up, which signs to use, and how many. *Id.* at 49.

Bainbridge Island. (CABR at 66.) According to the caller, there were some problems with the flaggers at that location. *Id.* Inspector Drapeau went to Potelco's worksite to investigate. *Id.* at 67. Inspector Drapeau did not find any problems with the flaggers, but she believed that the flagging operation lacked sufficient advance warning signs. *Id.* at 74. Inspector Drapeau approached Mr. Hensley, described her concern, and asked Mr. Hensley to erect additional signs. *Id.* at 49. Inspector Drapeau, however, did not inform Mr. Hensley how many signs to erect or where to place those signs. *Id.* at 49-50. Nonetheless, Mr. Hensley complied with her request and the flaggers erected more signs. *Id.* at 50, 65.

Based on Inspector Drapeau's investigation, the Department issued Potelco Citation No. 315249847, citing Potelco for an alleged "repeat serious" violation of WAC 296-155-305(8)(a) for allegedly failing to establish a series of three advance warning signs in each direction of Potelco's worksite from the intersection of Winslow Way and Madison Avenue ("Bainbridge Citation").⁵

2. Potelco's "Bremerton Worksite"

Citation 315583005 relates to a different Potelco crew led by Mr. Hensley that was replacing a power line near 645 4th Street, in Bremerton, WA on December 21, 2011. (CABR at 77-78.) Because the crew needed to park one of its work trucks in the lane of traffic on 4th Street to perform

⁵The Department also cited Potelco for an alleged failure to have a traffic control plan onsite. The Board vacated that citation because it was not supported by the evidence. (CABR at 38, 40.)

their work, they needed a flagging operation. (CABR at 78.) When Mr. Hensley arrived at the jobsite, flaggers from Labor Ready were already onsite. *Id.* Mr. Hensley discussed the day's work with the flaggers and what his crew would be doing that day, and requested that the flaggers set up an appropriate flagging operation. *Id.* at 77-79.

After learning where Potelco planned to work, Labor Ready's flaggers set up a flagging operation. *Id.* at 79. The flaggers set up three advance warning signs. Id. at 6. The distance between Potelco's worksite on 4th Street and the nearest cross street, Park Avenue, was relatively short, likely less than 150 feet. Id. at 60; (CABR Hearing Transcript, Jan. 22, 2013, Exhibits ("CABR Exhibits") 1A, 7B.) The sign closest to Potelco's worksite ("sign 1") was a "flagger ahead" sign (CABR Exhibit 1A), which was located a short distance from Potelco's worksite. *Id.* The next warning sign ("sign 2") was placed further away from the worksite, approximately 47 feet from the "flagger ahead" sign. (CABR at 60, CABR Exhibit 7B.) The final sign ("sign 3") was approximately 37 feet from sign 2. (CABR Exhibits 7B, 8.) Sign 3 was on 4th Street, directly next to the intersection with Park Ave. *Id.* One Labor Ready flagger positioned himself within a few feet of sign 1, presumably because of the space restrictions at the site. (CABR at 14, 55, CABR Exhibit 1A.) The Department effectively agreed that it was not practical to erect signs on 4th Street on the other side of the intersection from the worksite to achieve the required sign spacing because parked cars that lined the sides of 4th Street would have obscured any signs. (CABR at 44-45; CABR Exhibit 7B.)

After Mr. Hensley's meeting with the flaggers, he met with his Potelco crew in an alley near 4th Street for a pre-job safety meeting ("tailboard"). (CABR at 79.) During the tailboard, Department Compliance Safety and Health Officer ("CSHO"), Jeremy Ketchum, observed the flaggers at Potelco's worksite. *Id.* at 14, 80. Inspector Ketchum noticed the Labor Ready flagger standing in the roadway, very near the "flagger ahead" sign. *Id.* at 14. Inspector Ketchum subsequently approached Mr. Hensley to address his observations. *Id.* at 18, 80. At this time, Mr. Hensley's crew had not begun any work and Mr. Hensley had not returned to 4th street from the tailboard to observe the flaggers. *Id.* at 79-80. Because of Inspector Ketchum's observations of the flaggers, Mr. Hensley decided to shut down the worksite and called the flaggers' supervisor at Labor Ready to report the flagging issues. *Id.*

Based on Inspector Ketchum's inspection, the Department issued Potelco Citation No. 315583005, which included the following alleged violations of WISHA:

- Violation 1-1 alleged a serious violation of WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) ("Bremerton Citation 1-1"), which generally requires 100 feet spacing between advance warning signs. Inspector Ketchum believed that Potelco violated this provision because a flagger was standing too close to the "flagger ahead" sign (sign 1).
- Violation 1-2 alleged a serious violation of WAC 296-155-305(9)(b) ("Bremerton Citation 1-2"), which requires flaggers to stand on the shoulder adjacent to the road user being controlled or in the closed lane prior to stopping road users. Inspector Ketchum believed that Potelco violated this provision

because he observed the flaggers standing in the lane of traffic before road users had stopped.⁶

B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Potelco appealed the Bainbridge and Bremerton Citations to the Board on April 12, 2012 (CABR at 54-55, 179-180). The Board consolidated both appeals, and a hearing was held at the Board's Seattle office before Judge Steven Straume on January 22, 2013. (CABR at 74, Transcript of Judge Straume's Opening Statement, January 22, 2013 at 3.) Judge Straume issued a Proposed Decision and Order on April 15, 2013, affirming the Citations as modified. (CABR at 25-41.) Potelco filed a timely Petition for Review. (CABR at 3-21.) On May 20, 2013, the Board denied Potelco's Petition for Review and adopted Judge Straume's Proposed Decision and Order as the Board's final Decision and Order. (CABR at 1.) On June 19, 2013, Potelco appealed the Board's Decision and Order to the Kitsap County Superior Court. (Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., Kitsap County Cause No. 13-2-01367-5, Dkt. No. 2). On April 17, 2014, Judge Jennifer Forbes entered a memorandum order affirming the Board's Decision and Order. (Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 67-80.) Potelco timely appealed to the Washington State Court of Appeals. Division II on May 14, 2014. (Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.,

⁶The Department also cited Potelco for an alleged failure to have a traffic control plan onsite. The Board correctly vacated this citation because it was not supported by the evidence. (CABR at 40.)

⁷On June 27, 2014, Judge Forbes signed a judgment and order summarizing her memorandum order. (*Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, Kitsap County Cause No. 13-2-01367-5, Dkt. No. 25), which was entered after Potelco filed its designation of clerks papers on June 16, 2014 (CP at 81-83).

Kitsap County Cause No. 13-2-01367-5, Dkt. No. 15). The Court of Appeals filed an unpublished decision in this matter on September 22, 2015, which affirmed Board's Decision. *See* Exhibit A. On October 8, the Department filed a motion to publish that decision. On November 17, 2015, the Court of Appeals granted the Department's motion to publish. *See* Exhibit B.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Under RAP 13.4, a petition for review will be granted if it involves "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States," or "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4). This Petition for review involves such issues.

A. This Petition for Review Involves a Matter of Substantial Public Interest

Potelco relies on employees from specialized temporary employment agencies to provide limited, specific flagging services, while Potelco focuses on its utility construction services. Potelco does not train, supervise, or manage these flaggers. This appeal will determine whether Potelco, or any other contractor who uses workers from similar temporary employment agencies, may rely on the third party to provide qualified flaggers who are immediately able to perform their assigned tasks, or whether contractors must independently verify flaggers' qualifications, and manage those flaggers. The answer to this question will have a substantial

impact on how contractors and temporary employment agencies conduct business.⁸

B. This Petition for Review Involves a Significant Question of Law Under the Constitutions of the United States and Washington State

"[T]he due process vagueness doctrine under the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3 of the [Washington] state constitution requires that citizens have fair warning of proscribed conduct." *State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 753, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). A Department regulation violates due process if it requires conduct in terms so vague that employers "must guess as to its meaning and differ as to its application," or if it allows the Department to make "arbitrary discretionary decisions." *Silverstreak, Inc. v. Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 159 Wn.2d 868, 890, 154 P.3d 891 (2007). This Petition concerns one such regulation.

WAC 296-155-305(8)(c) requires a "three sign advance warning sequence" to alert drivers about flagging operations on roadways with a speed limit below 45 mph. It notes that 100 feet is the standard distance between advance warning signs on urban streets with a speed limit of 25 mph or less. However, this standard spacing "may be reduced in urban areas to fit roadway conditions." WAC 296-155-305(8)(c). The regulation provides no guidance about the degree to which sign spacing "may be reduced . . . to fit roadway conditions."

⁸ The Court of Appeals determined that this appeal involves issues which are sufficiently substantial to justify publishing its opinion.

The issue presented for review involves a significant question under Washington State's constitution: whether this regulation complies with due process, when it enabled the Department to arbitrarily cite Potelco, despite the appropriateness of reducing the sign spacing at the Bremerton worksite, and despite a sequence of warning sings preceded the flagger.

VI. CONCLUSION

Potelco respectfully requests that the Court accept Potelco's Petition for Review, because it involves a matter of substantial public interest, and a significant question of constitutional law.