RECEIVED 
SUPRBAE COURT 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
Feb 18, 2016, 3:12pm 

q BY RONALD R. CARPENTER 
SUPREME COURT NO.J fo 9 q-~CLERK 

Court of Appeals, Divisi,on II, No. 46256~7 G ]1fif-
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL 

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

POTELCO, INC., 

Petitioner, 

v. 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES, 

Respondent. 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES 
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW 

ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
Attorney General 

Paul M. Crisalli 
Assistant Attorney General 
WSBA No. 40681 
Office ID. No. 91018 
800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 
Seattle WA 98104 
(206) 389M3822

I. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves the application of well-established case law to 

the facts of this case in a case regarding wmker safety on roadways. The 

Court of Appeals correctly rejected Potelco's argument that it was not an 

employer in control of the flaggers (who worked for a temporary labor 

company, Labor Ready). The undisputed evidence shows that Potelco's 

foreman was the only supervisor onsite and directed the flaggers' work. 

WAC 296-155-304(8) requires companies to have advance signs to 

warns motorists that there are flaggers present in a work zone. The Court 

of Appeals correctly held that the regulation, which allows flaggers to 

reduce the spacing between the signs in urban areas to fit roadway 

conditions, was not unconstitutionally vague as applied to Potelco. Potelco 

does not contest the Court of Appeals' holdings that substantial evidence 

shows that a flagger was standing next to the warning sign, and that at a 

minimum, the mle does not allow a flagger to reduce the spacing to zero. 

Because the actual conduct violated the regulation, for the vagueness 

argument, Potelco' s arguments about hypothetical facts fail. 

Since Potelco's arguments lack any merit, it cannot show that this 

case presents a significant question of law under the state ot federal 

constitutions, or that this case presents an issue of substantial public 

interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) & (4). The Court should deny review. 



II. ISSUES 

If the Court accepts review, the issues will be: · 

A. Both the off~site "primary" employer and the on~site "secondary" 
employer can be held responsible for violations of the Washington 
Industrial Health and Safety Act (WISHA) involving temporary 
employees under the economic realities test. Does substantial 
evidence support that Potelco is a secondary employer for the 
Labor Ready flaggers who may be held responsible for WISHA 
violations, when Potelco controlled the worksites and the flaggers, 
and the other elements of the economic realities test are 
demonstrated 7 

B. WAC 296-155-305(8)(a) allows employers to reduce the spacing 
between the advance warning signs in urban areas to fit roadway 
conditions. Is the rule unconstitutionally vague as applied to 
Potelco, when the flagger was standing directly beside the third 
advance warning sign rather behind it by 1 00 feet or a distance 

· reduced to fit roadway conditions? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. At a Potelco Worl<Site in Bremerton, Flaggers Stood in the 
Roadway, Without Proper Signage 

When traffic needs to be controlled in a work zone, employers 

must provide three warning signs before the location the flagger is 

standing. WAC 296-155-305; WAC 296~45-52530(l)(b). There must be at 

least 1 00 feet between each of the three warning signs if the flagger is on 

an urban street with a speed limit of 25 miles per hour or less. The spacing 

"may be reduced in urban areas to fit roadway conditions," but the 
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regulations do not specify how much the spacing may be reduced. WAC 

296~ 155-305(8)(c). 

Department of Labor & Industries' inspectors inspected power line

contractor Potelco' s worksite in Bremerton in October 2011. BR Ketchum 

13~15. When they arrived at the worksite, they saw a flagger standing in 

the roadway directly beside an advance warning sign for flaggers. BR 

Ketchum 14, 18; Exs 1, 2. Although it is sometimes appropriate for 

flaggers to reduce the regulation's 100 foot spacing requirement based on 

road conditions, this was situation did not involve a reduction in space

there was no advance warning of the flagger. BR Ketchum 52-53. 

Potelco obtained the flaggers from Labor Ready, a company that 

supplies temporary workers. BR Drapeau II 3; BR Ketchum 42. But the 

flaggers explained to the inspectors that Potelco's foreman, Hensley, was 

in charge of the worksite. BR Drapeau II 3; BR Ketchum 25. Hensley told 

the Daggers where the worksite is located, what needs to be flagged, and 

what he needed them to do. BR Hensley 43. The Labor Ready flaggers 

attended a "tail board" discussion led by Potelco about the worksite before 

starting. BR Hensley 4 7 ." 

There is no evidence that Labor Ready provided any instructions to 

the flaggers or that they had any supervisors at the worksite. The only 

instructions to the flaggers at the worksite came from Po tel co's foreman, 
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Hensley. BR 33. As the only supervisor present, Hensley was the only· 

person who could plan the worksite and the flagging safety zone around it. 

BR 33-34. 

In addition to the fact that Potelco's foreman directed the flaggers 

to set up and handle the flagging at the site, Potelco supplied all of the 

equipment. Potelco provided the signs and cones, assisted the flaggers in 

placing them, and made sure that the flaggers had enough signs and cones. 

BR Hensley 46, 48. 

After the Labor and Industries inspectors raised the flagger safety 

issue, Potelco' s foreman exercised his authority to shut down the 

Bremerton worksite·. BR Hensley 82. The foreman instructed the flaggers 

to set more signs out in each direction. BR Hensley 50. Potelco did not 

report the problem to Labor Ready. BR Hensley 66. 

B. The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals Found that Potelco 
Did Not Properly Protect the Flaggers' Safety 

The Department cited Potelco for violating the flagging regulations 

at the Bremerton worksite. BR 168-83. In response to Potelco's appeal of 

the citation, the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals found that the 

flaggers stood ''next to" the advanced warning sign and thus "were 

exposed to the hazard of being struck by passing vehicles at the worksite." 

BR39. 

4 



The Board found that Potelco was a responsible employer. BR 32. 

To ascertain who controlled the flaggers, the Board applied the economic 

realities test, which is a seven-factor test that analyzes whether, in a 

multiple employer situation, there is an employment relationship between 

the endangered workers and the putative employer. RCW 49.14.020(4) & 

(5); Loomis Cabinet Co. v. Occupational Safety & Health Review 

Comm 'n, 20 F.3d 938, 941 (9th Cir. 1994); In re Skills Resource Training, 

No. 95 W253, 1997 WL 593888 (Bd. Ind. Ins. App. Aug. 5, 1997). 

Although Labor Ready supplied the flaggers, the Board found that Potelco 

controlled the flaggers at the worksite .. BR 33, 41. 

After the Board upheld the citation, Potelco appealed to the 

superior court. Potelco did not assign error to the Board's finding that 

Potelco controlled the flaggers at the worksite. The superior court held that 

substantial evidence supported the Board's findings. 

The Court of Appeals upheld the Board. The Court held that 

Potelco was an employer under the economic realities test, explaining that 

Potelco's foreman was in charge of the worksite, that Potelco controlled 

the worksite, and that the foreman testified that he was the only supervisor 

at the worksite. Slip Op. at 19-20. The Court held that the Department 

could cite multiple employers, and Potelco was one such employer. Slip 

Op. at 21. 
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In now seeking this Court's review, Potelco's petition does not 

dispute the substantial evidence holding or contest that it violated the 

regulation. Rather, it argues that the regulation is void for vagueness and 

contests regulating its use of temporary workers. 1 

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

It is undisputed that Potelco did not comply with the worker safety 

regulation. Because substantial evidence and well~established case law 

support the Court of Appeals' decision, neither of Potelco' s arguments 

necessitates review. Holding the controlling party responsible for worker 

safety is, consistent with the law and furthers the purpose of WISHA. RAP 

13.4(b)(4). This Court should deny review. 

A. Holding Potelco Responsible for the Workers It Controls Is 
Consistent With Well Settled Cas() Law 

This Court has consistently held that the law places "the 

responsibility of protecting our state's workers on the entity best able to 

ensure workplace safety." Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 460, 482, 

296 P.3d 800 (2013). Multiple parties may be responsible for worker 

safety, regardless of whether there is a direct employer~employee 

relationship. !d. The key question is whether the employer has the right to 

control the worker. Afoa, 176 Wn.2d at 472 (citing Kamla v. Space Needle 

1 There was a second set of affirmed citations related to work at a Bainbridge 
site. Potelco does not ask for review of that citation, except insofar as it raises its 
argument about temporary workers. 
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Corp., 147 Wn.2d 114, 124, 52 P.3d 472 (2002)). Since the unchallenged 

findings of the Board establish that Potelco exercised control over the 

flaggers, the Court of Appeals decision is entirely consistent with the 

decisions of this Court. "[I]t is settled law thatjobsite owners have a 

specific duty to comply with WISHA regulations if they retain control 

over the manner and instrumentalities of work being done on the jobsite." 

Afoa, 176 Wn.2d at 472. 

Contrary to Potelco's petition, examining the application of the law 

to the facts of this case cannot provide a universal determination of who 

controls the workers in every hypothetical scenario involving a contractor 

who obtains workers from a temporary employment agency. Pet. at 9. 

Because the employer-employee relationship is not the determinative 

factor, this Court's decisions require an examination of the facts of each 

case to determine who is exercising control. E.g., Stute 1:'· P.B.MC., Inc., 

114 Wn.2d 454, 460, 788 P.2d 545 (1990) (citing Goucher v. J.R. Simplot 

Co., 104 Wn.2d 662, 672, 709 P.2d 774 (1985)). The Court of Appeals 

correctly determined that substantial evidence supported the Board's 

determination that Potelco was a responsible employer for the temporary 

workers. Slip Op. at 18-21. Notably, Potelco does not challenge the Court 

of Appeals decision about substantial evidence in this Court, thus 

conceding the issue. 
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B. The Court's Application of WAC 296-155-305(8) Does Not 
Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest 

Potelco asks the Court to take the case to determine whether WAC 

296-155-305(8)'s "three sign advance waming sequence" is 

unconstitutionally vague. Pet. at 10. The rule allows the distance between 

the warning signs and the worker to be adjusted, based on the road 

conditions. This case, however, does not present any issue regarding the 

proper distance between the signs and the worker. There was no distance 

at all-the flagger stood right next to the sign. 

When analyzing a vagueness challenge, courts look to the actual 

conduct of the party challenging the rule and not the '"hypothetical 

situations at the periphery of the [rule's] scope."' We den v. San Juan Cty., 

135 Wn.2d 678, 708, 958 P.2d 273 (1998) (quoting City of Spokane v. 

Douglass, 115 Wn.2d 171, 182-83,795 P.2d 693 (1990)). The regulation's 

plain language requires that the warning sign must be in "advance" of the 

flagger, and here, Potelco does not dispute that there was no distance 

between the warning sign and the flagger. WAC 296-155-305(8); BR 

Ketchum 14, 18; see Potelco, Inc. v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 166 Wn. 

App. 647, 653-54, 272 P.3d 262 (2012) (regulation requires three signs 

placed in advance). As the Court of Appeals concluded, the regulation 

plainly prohibited the flagger from standing next to the warning sign, 
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which is what occurred here. Slip Op. at 17, On these undisputed facts, 

there is no issue of substantial public interest. To the contrary, the public 

interest is served by the Court of Appeals decision that upheld WISHA's 

protection of the workers, and applied many decisions of this Court 

holding the controlling party responsible for worker safety. 

review. 

V. CONCLUSION 

This is not a case of substantial importance. The Court should deny